STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

FEB 19 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

GERALD BARRETT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002158

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred in qualifying a forensic interviewer as an expert in “Child Sexual Abuse Characteristics and Behavior” and in denying appellant’s motion to suppress the interviewer’s testimony?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in denying appellant’s motion for a continuance to obtain an expert witness to counter the forensic interviewer’s testimony regarding the characteristics of child sexual abuse when the State announced its intention to introduce such expert testimony and produced discovery associated with its expert on the Thursday before appellant’s Monday trial?

3.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 23, 2012, a Beaufort County grand jury indicted appellant for second degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, lewd act on a minor under the age of sixteen, and kidnapping. R. 333 and Supp. R. 1 (2012 Indictments). On March 28, 2013, appellant was reindicted for the same charges with the dates in the indictments changed after appellant issued a notice of alibi. Supp. R. 5 (2013 indictments). On May 20, 2013, appellant was tried before the Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington and a jury. R. 1. Mary Concannon and Benjamin Shelton represented the State. R. 2. Trasi Campbell represented appellant. R. 5, ll. 16 – 17. The jury acquitted appellant of kidnapping. R. 283, ll. 3 – 23. The jury convicted appellant of lewd act. R. 283, ll. 3 – 23. The jury could not reach a verdict on the criminal sexual conduct charge. R. 283, ll. 3 – 23.

Judge Harrington deferred sentencing so a presentence investigation could be conducted. R. 291, l. 24 – 292, l. 11. On October 2, 2013, Judge Harrington held a sentencing hearing and sentenced appellant to twelve years' imprisonment suspended upon the service of nine years' imprisonment and four years' probation. R. 323, l. 20 – 324, l. 18. The court also imposed GPS monitoring and required registration as a sex offender. R. 323 l. 20 – 324, l. 18. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The complainant in this child sex abuse case ("Minor") was fifteen years old at the time of trial and fourteen when she alleged the abuse occurred. R. 95, ll. 6 – 18. She was living with her mother and her mother's boyfriend ("Shawn"). R. 95, ll. 21 – 22. Appellant Gerald T. Barrett, Jr. ("Barrett") was a friend of her mother's. R. 97, ll. 7 – 8. Minor had known Barrett since she was "little." R. 97, ll. 11 – 13.

Minor claimed that on the day the abuse occurred, she attended the St. Patrick's Day parade in Hilton Head with her mother, Shawn, and their friends. R. 98, ll. 7 – 24. Minor went home after the parade and was babysitting a child. R. 98, l. 25 – 99, l. 12. During the evening, her mother and Shawn returned and their friends came over for a party. R. 99, ll. 13 – 21. R. 81, ll. 1 – 14. Barrett came to the party. R. 81, ll. 24 – 25.

According to Minor, the adults were on the porch and she was inside sitting on a couch watching television. R. 99, l. 19 – 100, l. 22. Barrett entered the room and sat down on the couch. R. 100, l. 23 – 101, l. 9. Minor moved to a chair. R. 101, ll. 10 – 12. Barrett followed her to the chair. R. 101, ll. 19 – 22. Minor claimed Barrett put his hand under her clothes and digitally penetrated her vagina. R. 102, ll. 16 – 103, l. 11. The solicitor asked Minor what she was doing "[w]hen he's doing this," and Minor replied, "Texting." R. 183, ll. 12 – 13.

Minor left the chair and went upstairs to her sister's room. R. 183, ll. 14 – 19. She awakened her sister and they talked, but Minor did not tell her sister about the alleged abuse. R. 103, l. 20 – 104, l. 8. Minor fell asleep in her sister's room and then moved to her room after waking up. R. 104, ll. 9 – 14. She got in the bed and went to sleep. R. 105, ll. 10 – 11. Even though she claimed she had just been the victim of a

sexual assault, Minor did not lock the door. R. 118, l. 21 – 119, l. 6. The doors to her room were made of glass and people could easily see into her room. R. 119, ll. 7 – 11.

Minor stated she was awakened by footsteps. R. 105, ll. 12 – 13. She pretended to be asleep. R. 105, ll. 14 – 15. Barrett laid down on the bed and began touching her “lower private area.” R. 106, l. 10 – 107, l. 1. She alleged Barrett held her down and had sexual intercourse with her. R. 107, l. 13 – 108, l. 20. She did not scream or call for help. R. 108, ll. 21 – 22. Barrett “[j]umped up and left” after he heard a noise. R. 109, ll. 3 – 4. Minor went to the bathroom, urinated, and noticed blood and “[s]omething weird” that was white in color. R. 109, ll. 9 – 18. She took a shower, locked her door, and went to sleep. R. 109, ll. 15 – 23. Barrett received text messages from Barrett asking her to come downstairs, but she deleted them. R. 120, ll. 10 – 21. R. 123, l. 20 – 124, l. 1. Minor washed her clothes that she claimed had blood on them. R. 119, l. 21 – 120, l. 9.

Minor testified that she did not intend for adults to find out about the alleged abuse. R. 110, l. 17 – 112, l. 21. Minor claimed the first person she told about the alleged abuse was her little sister. R. 110, ll. 17 – 23. She testified that she “had to tell my grandma” because her sister told, “and my grandma made me tell her everything.” R. 111, ll. 22 – 25. She testified that she told her peers (two female friends and her boyfriend) about the abuse before her step-grandmother found out from her little sister. R. 110, l. 24 – 111, l. 21.

Minor’s step-grandmother was the State’s first witness. R. 70, ll. 15 – 20. She stated that Minor told her about the abuse during Spring break. R. 71, ll. 18 – 22. She said that Minor told her the abuse occurred “around St. Patrick’s Day.” R. 72, ll. 7 – 8.

She first contacted Minor's father and then called law enforcement. R. 72, ll. 13 – 21. The step-grandmother could not remember telling law enforcement that the abuse occurred "one to two weeks prior to the conclusion of school," but admitted that if that information appeared in a report it might be more accurate than what she could remember. R. 74, ll. 11 – 21. The State's lead investigator admitted that in a report made to police on July 3, 2012, the step-grandmother stated, "[minor] advised the incident occurred one to two weeks prior to the conclusion of school." R. 198, ll. 10 – 14. At no point did the step-grandmother mention finding out about the abuse from Minor's sister and wringing the information from Minor. The witnesses were sequestered. R. 59, ll. 4 – 6.

Minor was examined by a pediatric nurse practitioner in August 2012. R. 165, ll. 19 – 20. R. 173, ll. 4 – 10. The nurse stated, "There were no findings on her exam." R. 173, ll. 9 – 10. She stated the hymen had no disruptions, tears, notches, or clefts. R. 173, ll. 11 – 20. The nurse testified this did not mean Minor had never had sex. R. 169, l. 17 – 171, l. 24.

Neither Minor's mother, sister, nor any of the other adults who were at the party testified. The jury acquitted Barrett of kidnapping. R. 283, ll. 18 – 20. The jury convicted Barrett of committing a lewd act. R. 283, ll. 21 – 23. The jury could not reach a verdict on the criminal sexual conduct charge. R. 283, ll. 10 – 14.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred in qualifying a forensic interviewer as an expert in “child sexual abuse characteristics and behavior” and in denying appellant’s motion to suppress the interviewer’s testimony.

Relevant Facts

Appellant filed a motion opposing the qualification of forensic interviewer Kendra Twitty (“Twitty”) as an expert and to exclude her testimony. R. 9, ll. 11 – 25. Defendant’s Ex. 9. Twitty conducted a forensic interview of Minor. R. 8, ll. 1 – 16. Citing State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), appellant argued that courts may not qualify forensic interviewers as expert witnesses and that their interviews are not scientific. Defendant’s Ex. 9. Judge Harrington heard argument on this motion in conjunction with a motion for a continuance (raised in Issue 2 of this brief) prior to trial. R. 5, l. 22 – 17, l. 7.

The State conceded that Kromah barred qualification of a forensic interviewer as an expert. R. 11; ll. 7 – 12. However, the Thursday before the Monday that the trial began, the solicitor informed the defense they intended to introduce testimony of “Child Sexual Assault Accommodation Syndrome” through the forensic interviewer. R. 6, ll. 3 – 12. The solicitor argued that instead of qualifying the forensic interviewer as an expert in forensic interviewing, they should be allowed to qualify her as an expert “in the field of child sexual abuse counseling and treatment.” R. 11, ll. 7 – 18. The solicitor stated her intention to have the forensic interviewer testify concerning “delayed reporting, who they report to, why they choose to report to the sort of individuals, different aspects

regarding, not [Minor] in particular, just general – generalized what – regarding these victims.” R. 8, l. 19 – 9, l. 1. At the conclusion of the pretrial hearing, Judge Harrington denied the motion for continuance and deferred ruling on the expert issue until later in the trial. R. 16, l. 24 – 17, l. 7.

Following jury selection and other pretrial matters, the trial court again took up the issue of whether the forensic interviewer could be qualified as an expert and allowed to testify. R. 28, l. 1 – 50, l. 17. Appellant argued that the State should not be allowed to offer testimony outside of the bounds of Kromah. R. 28, ll. 1 – 22. The solicitor again reiterated that they would not intend to qualify Twitty as an expert in forensic interviewing but instead, pursuant to State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) “as an expert in sexual abuse counseling and treatment for a child’s sexual abuse trauma recovery.” R. 28, l. 23 – 29, l. 13. The solicitor stated that the forensic interviewer would not be testifying “specifically about [Minor].” R. 28, ll. 8 – 13.

When asked by the trial judge the relevance of this testimony, the solicitor stated:

Well, [Minor] will be able to testify as to what she did after the sexual abuse occurred. And [Twitty]’s testimony is just shows – it is the State’s intention to have [Twitty] testify that different patterns of behavior are commonplace in child sexual abuse victims.

R. 30, ll. 2 – 7. Appellant again objected that if “Ms. Twitty wants to testify as a child sexual abuse counseling and trauma expert, that’s not relevant to this case.” R. 30, ll. 18 – 20. Appellant further argued that such testimony about the late disclosure was tantamount to vouching for Minor’s credibility. R. 31, ll. 1 – 12. After the trial judge asked the solicitor if the forensic interviewer would just be drawing inferences out of “textbooks,” the solicitor responded Twitty would be basing her testimony on her training, education, and experience. R. 32, l. 21 – 33, l. 3. The solicitor further argued:

The State's understanding of Kromah is that Kendra Twitty **would not be able to testify to bolster the credibility of Minor**. She could not testify regarding that. We have no intention of asking questions or eliciting any testimony regarding the truthfulness of [Minor's] testimony. **She can, though, lend credibility to her allegations**, and that is where the child sexual Abuse Accommodation Syndrome comes in and that's where the general findings of child sexual abuse victims comes into play with her expertise in those. We have no intention of her speaking **specifically to the credibility of [Minor]**, and I think that's where maybe I got confused over why it's a generalized testimony as opposed to specifics.

R. 34, l. 21 – 35, l. 9 (emphasis added).

Judge Harrington then asked for a proffer of Twitty's testimony. R. 37, l. 24 – 38, l. 1. Twitty attempted to explain "Child Sexual Abuse Accommodation Syndrome." R. 39, l. 23 – 41, l. 14. Twitty stated, "Pretty much, it's a way of adults understanding – understanding what children go through when they're sexually abused and how children handle themselves in an abnormal situation." R. 40, ll. 8 – 11. She stated the syndrome had five "associations" or "phases" or "components:"

secrecy is one; helplessness is one; entrapment and accommodation is one; delayed disclosure on – delayed disclosure, nonconflicting or unconvincing disclosure; and retraction or recantation would be one as well. And I'm – I may be missing – no. I think that's it.

R. 40, ll. 12 – 20. Twitty stated that not all victims of sexual abuse have these characteristics, but some children have a combination of them. R. 40, l. 21 – 41, l. 4. Twitty opined that while some children who are abused "over excel in things," other children may do the opposite and "have behavior outbursts and get – turn to substance abuse, cutting, other behaviors that are – whatever they're doing to accommodate the abuse that's happening to them." R. 41, ll. 5 – 14. She admitted she had never been

through any special training specifically for “Child Sexual Abuse Accommodation Syndrome.” R. 41, ll. 15 – 19.

Three times Twitty testified that a layperson would be able to recognize these characteristics just as she would. R. 42, ll. 7 – 10. R. 42, l. 24 – 43, l. 5. R. 43, ll. 21 – 23. Twitty also testified that “Child Sexual Abuse Accommodation Syndrome” was “not really a syndrome” but “[c]haracteristics, I guess you could say.” R. 43, ll. 6 – 11. She agreed with defense counsel that accommodation syndrome could not prove that abuse has occurred. R. 45, ll. 8 – 10. Twitty said that it was not a diagnostic tool. R. 45, ll. 15 – 17. When defense counsel finally asked what use it had, Twitty answered the “use it provides to me is educating, I guess you would say, the laypeople, the families, the world about what it’s like for a child that is sexually abused.” R. 45, ll. 18 – 22. Twitty also admitted that the problems children have could be from “a lot of other issues, not necessarily just child sexual abuse.” R. 46, l. 24 – 47, l. 7.

Following Twitty’s proffered testimony, defense counsel argued that the State would use it only as “a rehabilitation tool” to explain defects in Minor’s testimony such as the delay in reporting. R. 48, l. 14 – 49, l. 9. Defense counsel also argued that it was “pseudoscience” and should not be admitted. R. 49, ll. 5 – 9. Again citing Schumpert, the State argued it was admissible because Twitty’s “specialized knowledge... gives rise to indicate that those particular characteristics could be indicative of child sexual abuse. **Not always, but sometimes.**” R. 49, ll. 10 – 19 (emphasis added). Judge Harrington decided to withhold ruling until she heard Minor’s testimony. R. 50, ll. 15 – 17.

After Minor testified, Judge Harrington asked the solicitor what testimony she planned to elicit from Twitty. R. 125, l. 25 – 126, l. 2. The solicitor stated she planned to

elicit the date and time of the interview, the demeanor of Minor, and then qualify Twitty as an expert “regarding the behavior of and trauma of child sexual abuse victims.” R. 126, ll. 3 – 17. Defense counsel argued the testimony was inadmissible, that the syndrome had never been approved as a field of expertise in South Carolina, and that it was irrelevant on the issue of delayed disclosure because defense counsel intentionally chose not to cross-examine Minor regarding how long it took her to report the sexual assault. R. 126, l. 24 – 127, l. 18.

Twitty, who was sitting on the witness stand, interjected, “And, actually, I would prefer not to testify to the Child Sexual Abuse Accommodation Syndrome.” R. 128, ll. 5 – 7. The trial court replied, “You don’t get to choose.” R. 128, l. 8. The court ultimately ruled that she would allow “limited testimony... to discuss generally behavioral evidence as to delayed disclosure.” R. 130, l. 21 – 131, l. 7. The trial judge noted defense counsel’s exception to the ruling. R. 131, l. 8.

When Twitty took the stand before the jury, she testified that she worked at Hope Haven as a forensic interviewer and that she works “with children that **have been** sexually abused.” R. 134, l. 20 – 135, l. 4 (emphasis added). Defense counsel objected and the objection was overruled. R. 135, ll. 5 – 24. Twitty described her interview with Minor and Minor’s demeanor during the interview. R. 136, l. 4 – 137, l. 1. She told the jury that Minor was unable to verbalize the questions about the abuse and had to write down her answers. R. 137, ll. 1 – 15. After testimony about her qualifications, the State offered Twitty as an expert “as a mental health professional working with victims of child sexual abuse and trauma.” R. 140, l. 23 – 141, l. 1. The defense objected and was allowed to conduct voir dire. Twitty could not remember ever being qualified as an

expert in this area in General Sessions Court. R. 141, ll. 8 – 18. The trial judge told the jury Twitty was qualified “in the area of – as a mental health professional, specifically in the area of child sexual abuse characteristics and behavior, to give opinion testimony in that area.” R. 143, ll. 11 – 14.

After qualification, the solicitor asked what the term “delayed disclosure” meant. R. 144, ll. 6 – 7. Twitty testified “that kids usually never tell.” R. 144, ll. 8 – 9. She opined that “research shows that kids usually tell when they’re adults.” R. 144, ll. 12 – 13. She listed multiple reasons why a child might not report abuse. R. 144, ll. 13 – 24. She described delayed disclosure as “a very common thing in the child sexual abuse field.” R. 144, l. 25 – 145, l. 2. Matching Minor’s testimony, Twitty testified that disclosure to adults usually happens by accident and that teenagers usually report abuse to their “peers.” R. 145, ll. 2 – 19.

Discussion

The State sought to circumvent Kromah with Twitty’s testimony. Admitting her testimony was error, especially in this case where the State did not seek to introduce the tape of the forensic interview. Twitty’s testimony was simply irrelevant. In State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 732 S.E.2d 861 (2012), the Supreme Court held that a forensic interviewer’s testimony was properly limited to the foundation necessary to introduce a video recording of a child’s interview. See also State v. Douglas, 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009) (holding there is no need to qualify a forensic interviewer as an expert and Pleicones, J., calling forensic interviewers “human ‘truth detectors’” in dissent). The Court stated that it had “confronted instances where the State has abused the statute and sought to have the forensic interviewer, improperly imbued with the imprimatur of an

expert witness, invade the province of the jury by vouching for the credibility of the alleged victim.” Id. Discussing the qualification of the forensic interviewer in Kromah, the Supreme Court said, “[W]e state today that we can envision no circumstance where [a forensic interviewer’s] qualification as an expert at trial would be appropriate.” Id. at 357 737 S.E.2d at 499 n.5. The Court further noted that the “label of expert should be jealously guarded by the court and never loosely bandied about.” Id. at 357, 737 S.E.2d at 499.

Even though the State called the forensic interviewer by a different name, the effect of her testimony was the same and it should have been excluded. The forensic interviewer tailored her testimony regarding delayed disclosure to fit the facts of this case. She testified that children usually “never tell” and an adult usually finds out by accident, which matched Minor’s claims that she had to tell her step-grandmother because her sister told. R. 144, ll. 8 – 9. R. 145, ll. 2 – 19. R. 111, ll. 22 – 25. Twitty’s testimony was tailored to match Minor’s testimony that children usually tell peers, as Minor testified she told her friends and boyfriend before her step-grandmother discovered the allegations from the sister. R. 110, l. 24 – 111, l. 21. R. 145, ll. 2 – 19. The fact that Twitty testified about characteristics that matched Minor’s allegations—especially after the jury learned that she had conducted a forensic interview of Minor—could only be offered to show that Twitty believed Minor’s allegations. One of Twitty’s first statements to the jury was that she worked with children who “**have been** sexually abused.” R. 134, l. 20 – 135, l. 4 (emphasis added). The clear inference was that Twitty believed Minor had been abused.

Schumpert, the case cited by the State as supporting the admissibility of Twitty’s testimony, does not support the trial court’s ruling in this case. In Schumpert, the expert

observed the child and testified that the child exhibited symptoms of rape trauma that were consistent with abuse. Schumpert at 506-07, 435 S.E.2d at 861-62. Twitty did not opine that Minor suffered from rape trauma. Furthermore, Schumpert is arguably no longer good law after Kromah, especially when the proffered expert is a forensic interviewer masquerading as an expert by another name.

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