ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County
Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2013-002158

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Gerald Barrett,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
FEB 10 2015
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County
Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court did not err in allowing the expert testimony to be introduced at trial. The South Carolina Supreme Court's decision in State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), is completely inapposite and no case has overruled the established precedent of State v. Shumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) and State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999).

- II. The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for a continuance when the State had no obligation to inform the defense of the testimony prior to trial and Appellant had an opportunity to obtain an expert based on the State's notice.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State agrees with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court did not err in allowing the expert testimony to be introduced at trial. The South Carolina Supreme Court's decision in State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), is completely inapposite and no case has overruled the established precedent of State v. Shumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) and State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999).**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in admitting the testimony of the State's expert witness. He claims State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), bars her qualification as an expert because she served as the forensic interviewer. Further, he seems to contend her testimony was inappropriate and should not have been allowed by the trial court. Any issue related to the substance of her testimony is not preserved for review on appeal because Appellant never objected to any of the testimony as it was presented to the jury. Further, Kromah does not bar a person from being qualified as an expert in a field other than forensic interviewing. The qualification of the State's expert and her testimony were entirely appropriate under State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) and State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999).

Preservation

Any issue related to the substance of the expert's testimony is not preserved for review on appeal. The expert proffered testimony during which many discussions were had between counsel and the court regarding her testimony and its validity. However, this was pre-trial and the trial court reserved any final ruling. (T.138; R. 50). Additionally, immediately before the expert's testimony, the trial court reminded counsel

of the need to object to any testimony to protect the record. (T.233; R. 133). When the State's expert did testify, Appellant never raised a single objection to her testimony. (T.244-248; R. 144-148). It was incumbent on Appellant to raise an objection when the actual testimony was presented to the jury and to raise any specific issues related to that testimony he wished to preserve for review on appeal. See State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001) ("In most cases, '[m]aking a motion in limine to exclude evidence at the beginning of trial does not preserve an issue for review because a motion in limine is not a final determination. The moving party, therefore, must make a contemporaneous objection when the evidence is introduced.'"); State v. Kirton, 381 S.C. 7, 43, 671 S.E.2d 107, 125 (Ct. App. 2008) (same). As a result, no issue related to the expert's actual testimony is preserved for review on appeal.

Merits

On the merits, the expert was properly qualified and properly allowed to testify regarding delayed disclosure. First, Appellant contends the trial court improperly qualified the State's expert because she served as forensic interviewer. Next, Appellant maintains her testimony was irrelevant and improperly admitted. Finally, Appellant seems to argue the controlling cases of State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) and State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999) were overruled by State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013). All of these contentions are without merit.

The trial court properly qualified the State's expert as a mental health professional in the area of "child sexual abuse characteristics and behavior." The Supreme Court's opinion in Kromah does not bar her qualification as an expert in child sexual abuse

characteristics and behavior. Further, based on her education, expertise, and training she was clearly qualified to offer the limited expert testimony she offered regarding delayed disclosure.

While Kromah specifically found a person cannot be qualified as an expert in forensic interviewing, the case did not preclude a person from being qualified in another area solely because that person also acted as a forensic interviewer. See Kromah, 401 S.C. at 357 n.5, 737 S.E.2d at 499 n.5. The case dealt solely with testimony regarding the interview of a child abuse victim by a forensic interviewer. It did not involve any testimony regarding behavioral characteristics of victims of trauma such as sexual abuse, nor did it relate to any other testimony an expert may give on a subject outside of forensic interviewing.

If the argument is taken to its extreme, a case could present a situation in which a law enforcement officer serves as the forensic interviewer, as was the case in State v. Douglas, 380 S.C. 499, 503–04, 671 S.E.2d 606, 609 (2009). The same officer may also be a fingerprint expert or the DNA expert involved in the case. Taking Appellant's argument to its conclusion, because that same person interviewed the child, the law enforcement officer could not then be qualified as an expert in DNA analysis. Clearly, this is not the intention or rationale of Kromah, and this Court should not extend Kromah to the absurd result that a person who serves as a forensic interviewer cannot be qualified as an expert in any other field.

Additionally, the testimony presented by the State's expert is proper testimony for an expert and the trial court properly admitted it before the jury. First, Appellant spends much of his brief discussing the expert's testimony regarding Child Sexual Abuse

Accommodation Syndrome (CSAAS). Appellant is using smoke and mirrors in a clear effort to misdirect the Court's attention as this testimony only was offered during the proffer of the expert's testimony and was not at all offered by the State during the expert's testimony before the jury. Ironically, the only time CSAAS is mentioned before the jury is when Appellant's counsel raises it in recross-examination. (T.261; R.161). The main testimony Appellant complains was improperly admitted was either brought out only in a proffer by the State and not before the jury or was brought out by his own counsel and certainly does not form the basis of any error of which he can complain.

Next, the testimony actually presented to the jury by the State's expert related to delayed disclosure and the behavioral characteristics of a child victim of trauma including sexual abuse. The expert testified kids usually never tell and then explained the main reasons they fail to disclose abuse. She explained delayed disclosure is a common occurrence in the sexual abuse field and that many times adults are the last ones to find out about the abuse. (T.244-245; R. 144-145).

The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 564 S.E.2d 87 (2002). A court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error, which results in prejudice to the defendant. State v. McLeod, 362 S.C. 73, 606 S.E.2d 215 (Ct. App. 2004).

Qualification of a witness as an expert and the subsequent admission of that witness's testimony are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs

when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law. State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000).

As this Court very recently explained:

Expert testimony differs from lay testimony in that an expert is permitted to state an opinion based on facts not within his firsthand knowledge or may base his opinion on information made available before the hearing so long as it is the type of information that is reasonably relied upon in the field to make opinions. On the other hand, a lay witness may only testify as to matters within his personal knowledge and may not offer opinion testimony which requires special knowledge, skill, experience, or training.

.....

First, the [circuit] court must find that the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury. Next, while the expert need not be a specialist in the particular branch of the field, the [circuit] court must find that the proffered expert has indeed acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject matter. Finally, the [circuit] court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable.

State v. Brown, Op. No. 5288 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed January 7, 2015) (Shearouse Adv.Sh. No. 1, p.28-29) (quoting Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010)).

“[E]ven though experts are permitted to give an opinion, they may not offer an opinion regarding the credibility of others.” State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490, 499 (2013). “For an expert to comment on the veracity of a [victim’s] accusations of sexual abuse is improper.” State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 480, 716 S.E.2d 91, 94 (2011). This Court recently stated:

“Improper bolstering occurs when an expert witness is allowed to give his or her opinion as to whether the

complaining witness is telling the truth, because that is an ultimate issue of fact and the inference to be drawn is not beyond the ken of the average juror.” State v. Douglas, 367 S.C. 498, 521, 626 S.E.2d 59, 71 (Ct. App. 2006), rev'd in part on other grounds, 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009). Generally, the prohibition against bolstering is for the purpose of preventing a witness from testifying whether another witness is telling the truth and to maintain “the assessment of witness credibility . . . within the exclusive province of the jury.” State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 464, 725 S.E.2d 139, 141 (Ct. App. 2012).

State v. Taylor, 404 S.C. 506, 514, 745 S.E.2d 124, 128 (Ct. App. 2013). Any time an expert testifies or provides evidence which supports the underlying charge levied by the victim, it does not result in improper or impermissible bolstering or vouching. It is only when the testimony invades the province of the jury and makes a comment on the credibility or veracity of the victim.

The Courts of this state have examined behavioral testimony in several cases. Initially in State v. Hudnall, 293 S.C. 97, 359 S.E.2d 59 (1987), the South Carolina Supreme Court held expert testimony regarding common behavioral characteristics exhibited by child victims of sexual abuse was not admissible to establish abuse had occurred. The Court held this evidence admissible only to rebut a defense claim that the victim's response was inconsistent with such a trauma. Id. at 100-101, 359 S.E.2d at 61. The Supreme Court changed direction in State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991), holding trauma testimony of a rape victim is relevant to prove the elements of criminal sexual conduct since such evidence makes it more or less probable that the offense occurred.

In State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993), the South Carolina Supreme Court considered expert testimony regarding rape trauma syndrome. The expert

testified to characteristics commonly found in sexual assault victims. Id. at 505, 435 S.E.2d at 861. The Supreme Court overturned its holding in Hudnall, and specifically found: “both expert testimony and behavioral evidence are admissible as rape trauma evidence to prove a sexual offense occurred where the probative value of such evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect.”

This Court had a chance to address similar behavior testimony in State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999). In Weaverling, an expert testified regarding behavior and characteristics of a sexually abused victim. This Court stated: “Expert testimony concerning common behavioral characteristics of sexual assault victims and the range of responses to sexual assault encountered by experts is admissible.” Id. at 474-475, 523 S.E.2d at 794 (citing Frenzel v. State, 849 P.2d 741 (Wyo.1993); State v. Lujan, 192 Ariz. 448, 967 P.2d 123 (1998) (opinion testimony describing behavioral characteristics outside jurors’ common experience is permitted as long as it meets other admissibility requirements)). This Court explained:

Such testimony is relevant and helpful in explaining to the jury the typical behavior patterns of adolescent victims of sexual assault. Frenzel, supra. It assists the jury in understanding some of the aspects of the behavior of victims and provides insight into the sexually abused child's often strange demeanor. Id. See also Lujan, supra (when facts of case raise questions of credibility or accuracy that might not be explained by experiences common to jurors—like reactions of child victims of sexual abuse—expert testimony on general behavioral characteristics of such victims should be admitted).

Id. at 475, 523 S.E.2d at 794. This Court in Brown very concisely and correctly explained:

We believe the unique and often perplexing behavior exhibited by child sex abuse victims does not fall within the

ordinary knowledge of a juror with no prior experience—either directly or indirectly—with sexual abuse. The general behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims are, therefore, more appropriate for an expert qualified in the field to explain to the jury, so long as the expert does not improperly bolster the victims' testimony.

Brown, Op. No. 5288 (Shearouse Adv.Sh. No. 1, p.31); see also, State v. White, 361 S.C. 407, 415, 605 S.E.2d 540, 544 (2004) (“Expert testimony on rape trauma may be more crucial in situations where children are victims. The inexperience and impressionability of children often render them unable to effectively articulate the events giving rise to criminal sexual behavior.”).

Numerous other states which have considered the issue of whether to allow testimony regarding delayed disclosure and other behavioral characteristics have also found it admissible; specifically finding the behavioral traits appropriate testimony for an expert. See State v. J.Q., 617 A.2d 1196, 1206 (N.J. 1993) (“There does not appear to be a dispute about acceptance within the scientific community of the clinical theory that CSAAS identifies or describes behavioral traits commonly found in child-abuse victims.”); State v. Reser, 767 P.2d 1277, 1282 (Kan. 1989) (“There are numerous cases from other jurisdictions where expert testimony regarding characteristics of sexually abused children has been held properly admitted as providing helpful background information to the jury.”); Keri v. State, 347 S.E.2d 236, 238 (Ga. App. 1986) (finding expert testimony assisted jury in understanding why sexually abused children are secretive, why they were frightened, why they act out and become disciplinary problems, and why the children could not give specific dates for the acts they say were committed by the defendant); see also John E. B. Meyers, Expert Testimony in Child Sexual Abuse Litigation: Consensus and Confusion, 14 U.C. Davis J. Juv. L. & Pol'y 1, 45-46 (2010)

("Psychological research demonstrates that delayed reporting is common among sexually abused children. Frequently when children finally disclose, they give slightly different versions of the abuse to different interviewers. Finally, although there is debate about how many sexually abused children recant, it is undisputed that some children recant and some recant their recantation. Thus, from a psychological point of view, expert testimony about delay, inconsistency, and recantation is not controversial. From the legal perspective, such testimony is not worrisome." (footnotes omitted)).

The Georgia Court of Appeals found testimony about child sexual abuse syndrome admissible. McCoy v. State, 629 S.E.2d 493, 494 (Ga. Ct. App. 2006); see also, Keri v. State, 347 S.E.2d 236, 238 (Ga. App. 1986) (finding expert testimony assisted jury in understanding why sexually abused children are secretive, why they were frightened, why they act out and become disciplinary problems, and why the children could not give specific dates for the acts they say were committed by the defendant). Relying on its longstanding supreme court precedent, the Court found:

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